1964

Jay O. Barnhart and Vida N. Barnhart v. Civil Service Employees Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF KIND OF CASE

This is an action by plaintiff Vida Barnhart to recover damages under the Uninsured Motorist coverage of her own insurance policy, issued by the defendant, for personal injuries sustained by her in an accident with an uninsured motorist.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The trial judge, sitting without jury, rendered judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant in the amount of \$6,182.50.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant and appellant seeks reversal of the judgment below.

THE FACTS

The record on appeal consists essentially of three documents. The first of these is a folder containing papers and pleadings filed by the respective parties, minute entries of the court, and similar documents. In referring to papers contained in that folder, we shall designate them by the Initial "R." Secondly there is a transcript of the proceedings at trial with pages numbered separately. References to this transcript are prefaced by the letters "Tr." Thirdly, there is an envelope containing exhibits received in evidence, and we refer to the exhibits by their exhibit numbers. The parties are designated as they appeared in the court below. Unless otherwise indicated by the context, the word plaintiff refers to plaintiff Vida Barnhart. The facts are substantially without dispute.

On this appeal two separate and wholly unrelated theories are relied upon by appellants. For the convenience of the court, we have divided the facts into separate categories pertaining to the legal questions involved: (a) the facts of the accident; and (b) the facts relating to the insurance coverage.

A. The Facts of the Accident.

On September 1, 1962, the plaintiff was involved in an automobile collision with an automobile operated by

one Kenneth Daniel Welcker. (Tr. 7). The collision occurred under the following circumstances:

The collision occurred on a curve in U.S. Highway 91 near American Fork, and at approximately the junction of old highway 91 with new highway 91. (Ex. 2; Tr. 8, 24). At the place where the accident occurred there were two sets of double yellow lines. (Tr. 18-19, 31). There was a break in the double yellow lines at the point of the intersection of old and new highway 91, permitting south bound traffic on highway 91 to make left hand turns from new highway 91 onto old highway 91. (Tr. 18-19, 31).

Plaintiff was proceeding southerly along highway 91 intending to make a left hand turn onto old highway 91. (Tr. 48). When she reached the point of the opening in the two sets of double yellow lines she did not come to a complete stop, but moved slowly past the opening to a point approximately 82 feet south of the break in the double yellow lines. She was waiting for a break in north bound traffic to permit her to complete her left hand turn. (Tr. 31, 48-49).

Welcker was also proceeding southerly along highway 91 and when he approached the break in the yellow lines, a north bound truck had started through the break intending to make a left hand turn across the south bound lanes. (Tr. 11-12). Welcker turned out to avoid a collision with this truck, which partially obstructed the inside lane for south bound traffic, in which he was traveling. As he turned around the truck, he observed,

for the first time, the plaintiff's automobile. (Tr. 12-13). He applied brakes but was unable to stop in time to avoid a collision. (Tr. 8). The accident occurred 82 feet south of the opening in the double yellow lines. (Tr. 31).

B. The facts as to Insurance Coverage.

On April 10, 1962, defendant Civil Service Employees Insurance Company issued to plaintiff's husband a certain insurance policy designated as an automobile policy, Serial No. 0014-04-8. The coverage afforded by this policy was public liability insurance and uninsured motorist insurance. By express provision of the policy, the wife of the named insured (plaintiff), during the time she occupied the insured automobile, was entitled to the benefits of the Uninsured Motorist coverage. (Ex. 1) This policy was in full force and effect at the time of the above mentioned accident. (Ex. 1.) Welcker testified that he had no liability insurance. (Tr. 8).

Plaintiff and her husband commenced this action against the defendant under the Uninsured Motorist coverage, claiming damages for personal injuries on behalf of plaintiff, and property damage and loss of consortium on behalf of her husband. (R. 3). However, the husband's cause of action was dismissed at the trial as not being within the scope of the Uninsured Motorist coverage. (Tr. 4.)

Defendant's policy is a standard form automobile policy. It is so designed as to permit the writing of

several different types of automobile coverage in one document, whether the insured desires several coverages; or only limited coverage. In this instance, the insured purchased only public liability insurance, which (in this policy) automatically included Uninsured Motorist coverage. The policy provisions concerning Uninsured Motorist Coverage are contained in Part IV of the policy. The following provisions are of material importance in this case:

“PART IV — FAMILY PROTECTION AGAINST UNINSURED MOTORISTS

“1. Damages for Bodily Injury Caused by Uninsured Automobiles: To pay all sums which the insured or his legal representatives shall be legally entitled to recover as damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured automobile because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, including death resulting therefrom, hereinafter called ‘bodily injury,’ sustained by the insured, caused by accident and arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of such uninsured automobile; *provided for the purposes of this endorsement, determination as to whether the insured or such representative is legally entitled to recover such damages, and if so the amount thereof, shall be made by agreement between the insured for such representative and the company, or if they fail to agree, by arbitration.*

* * * * *

“6. *Arbitration:* If any person making claim hereunder and the company do not agree that such person is legally entitled to recover damages from the owner or operator of an uninsured

automobile because of bodily injury to the insured, or do not agree as to the amount of payment which may be owing under this coverage, *then, upon written demand of either*, the matter or matters upon which such person and the company do not agree *shall be settled by arbitration* in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the Arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Such person and the company each agree to consider itself bound and to be bound by any award made by the arbitrators pursuant to this endorsement.

* * * * *

“9. Action Against Company: *No action shall lie against the company unless, as a condition precedent thereto*, the insured or his legal representative has fully complied with all the terms of this endorsement nor unless within one year from the date of the accident:

* * * * *

“(c) the insured or his legal representative has formally instituted arbitration proceedings.” (Emphasis ours.) (Ex. 1.)

It was stipulated that the defendant had filed a demand for arbitration before the time of trial, and that plaintiffs refused to submit to arbitration claiming that they were not required to do so under Utah law. (Tr. 63).

Following a trial on the merits, the court ordered judgment in favor of the plaintiff and against the defendant in the amount of \$6,182.50. (R. 40, 49). A motion to set aside the judgment and to enter judgment for the

defendant, or in the alternative for a new trial, was denied by the court. (R. 46, 48, 53). This appeal followed. (R. 50).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT IS CONTRARY TO THE EVIDENCE AND AGAINST LAW.

POINT II

DEFENDANT WAS ENTITLED TO HAVE THE ISSUE OF ITS LIABILITY TO PLAINTIFFS, AND THE AMOUNT OF PLAINTIFF'S LOSS DETERMINED BY ARBITRATION PROCEEDINGS.

This case squarely raises for decision by this court, the issue of the enforceability of the arbitration provisions of the Uninsured Motorist coverage. This is an issue of considerable importance to the insurance industry, not only in Utah, but elsewhere in the nation. It is an issue which has been treated only by a few appellate courts in the country, none of which have the same general arbitration law as Utah. However, there are many other states which do have similar statutes, and the decision of this court in this case will no doubt become a landmark in this field of the law.

The Uninsured Motorist coverage is a relatively new type of coverage, devised by the insurance industry in an attempt to furnish some protection, at nominal cost, to the innocent victim of an accident caused by the negligence of an uninsured motorist, or a hit-run driver. This coverage must still be considered as being in the

experimental stage. Some authoritative discussion on its background may be helpful to the court. See Plummer's article in the Insurance Law Journal, August, 1957, 494:

"The history of the 'innocent victim' or the 'uninsured motorist' coverages is short but popular. It really began in January, 1954, when a few insurance companies added the 'unsatisfied judgment' endorsement to their standard form automobile liability policies at a premium range from \$5 to \$7.50. Most of the endorsements covered bodily injury — no property damage — and would pay after the claim was reduced to judgment. * * *

* * * * *

"It was in December, 1956, that the National Bureau of Casualty Underwriters and the Mutual Insurance Rating Bureau drafted and promulgated an endorsement that could only be attached to the family automobile policy. It provided coverage only for bodily injuries with maximum limits being the same as the financial responsibility law requirements (with a premium range from \$3 to \$12). The National Bureau named it the 'Family Protection-Automobile Coverage' and the Mutual Bureau gave it the title of 'Family Protection against Uninsured Motorists.' * * *

See also the paper on this subject delivered at the 1960 Annual Meeting of the Section of Insurance, Negligence, and Compensation Law of the American Bar Association, reported in the official report of those proceedings at pages 281 and 282:

"The history and evolution of the Coverage began with the public concern for the innocent

victim who must shoulder the burden of his injuries caused by the negligent wrongdoer and the financially irresponsible uninsured motorist. In the years between 1925 and 1954 the various state legislatures attempted to reduce the number of uncompensated victims by enacting motorist responsibility laws. They sought to distribute this responsibility throughout the motoring public by requiring the owners to post financial security with the state. * * * Each plan had merit and many were incorporated in the various State Financial Responsibility Laws. * * * There is and continues to be considerable debate over the merits of the various plans to meet public responsibility for the payment of the claims and judgments against the uninsured and irresponsible motorists. Still, the gap was not closed in compensating the injured against the drivers whose companies denied liability for lack of permission to drive by the owner and for want of insured's cooperation. In other words, there were still a great number of unsatisfied judgment creditors who were not compensated for injuries received. * * * Private companies showed little interest and they did not begin to accept the 'public responsibility' until January, 1954. At that time the insurance industry became interested in devising a plan to compensate injured parties. Pressure of public opinion continued to increase, but the companies were not too quick to accept the challenge because of possible political meddling, rate and underwriting problems, operating expenses, etc. They planned and wrote an uninsured coverage provision in the policy within the frame work of the present private insurance principle without too great an increase in premium cost, within the administration of justice and rules of tort liability. * * *

The significance and importance of the arbitration feature of this coverage was explained by Fieting in Best's Insurance News, Fire and Casualty edition, October, 1961, at page 57:

"Provision for arbitrating what were anticipated to likely be the most common kinds of disagreements between insurance companies and their insureds under uninsured motorists coverage has been part and parcel of this form of insurance ever since its inception in New York State back in 1955. It recognizes the desirability of and is designed to accomplish these things:

"1. Provide a *speedy, just and economical* means for determining the amount of the insurer's payment liability.

"2. Avoid the necessity for and disadvantages of litigation with the uninsured motorist prior to settlement of claims under this coverage.

"3. Leave the legal status of the uninsured motorist's liability to respond in damages unaffected by any action or proceedings taken in disposition of an insured's claim under this coverage.

"Basic to Coverage

"The basic arbitration requirement is part of the very grant of coverage, the insuring agreement specifying that 'determination as to whether the insured . . . is legally entitled to recover . . . damages, and if so, the amount thereof, shall be made by agreement between the insured . . . and the company or, if they fail to agree, by arbitration. Means for implementation of this arbitration requirement and objective are contained in two additional policy (or endorsement) provi-

sions. One of these specifies the American Arbitration Association as the tribunal for any arbitration, and makes the arbitrators' awards binding on the parties even to the extent of permitting entry of judgment on such awards. The other makes full compliance with all terms of the uninsured motorists coverage a condition precedent to any action against the company.

* * * * *

"The language employed can leave no doubt but that as to liability (as distinguished from coverage) and as to the amount of recoverable damages, the policy or endorsement makes arbitration of an uninsured motorist's claim compulsory at the option of either the insured or the insurance company. The policy language in this respect, in effect, undertakes to abrogate the right of either party to sue the other in courts of law on such disputed questions.

"What about questions as to whether this coverage applies at all to an asserted claim? What about a claim denied by the insurance company on the ground that the automobile which struck the insured was not in fact an 'uninsured automobile?' Or, what if the insurance company denies that the injured person qualifies as an 'insured' and consequently, is not a beneficiary of this coverage? Can arbitration of such coverage questions be required? Can an 'insured' or alleged insured compel the insurance company to proceed with arbitration of disputed questions of liability and damages while such coverage questions remain unresolved?

"There manifestly is no reference in any of the policy or endorsement provisions to arbitration of such coverage question and disagreements.

It consequently was quite properly assumed and continues to be the position of the insurance companies that coverage questions, as distinguished from liability and damage issues, are not subject to compulsory arbitration and, unless both parties agree to arbitrate such differences, they must be determined in appropriate court proceedings. The New York case law, originally developed accordingly and early tended to establish these propositions:

“1. Only disagreements between insured and insurance company relating to the legal liability of the uninsured motorist and the amount of the insured’s damages must be arbitrated.

“2. Other disagreements — those relating to application of the coverage — may be litigated in courts of law or equity.” (Emphasis ours.)

In light of these considerations, we proceed to an examination of the law. There appears to be a misconception among the bench and bar generally of this State, that any contract to submit to arbitration a dispute of *any* issue which may arise in the future under contractual agreement, is unenforceable. We do not believe that any decision of this court has gone so far. A careful reading of the earlier decisions of this court will reveal that they are not out of harmony with general principles regarding arbitration in other states. We shall later examine the Utah authorities in detail, but first we turn to some general principles.

In 5 Am. Jur. 2d 535, Arbitration and Award, Sec. 30, the following rule is set forth:

“Where a contract contains a stipulation that the *decision of arbitrators on certain questions*

*shall be a condition precedent to the right of action on the contract itself, such stipulation will be enforced, and until the method adopted has been pursued, or some sufficient reason given for not pursuing it, no action can be brought on the contract. * * **" (Emphasis ours.)

In the same article at page 573, Sec. 72, the following rule is set forth:

"Notwithstanding the general rule that an unperformed abritration agreement will not bar a suit on the same subject matter, *if a party's right to bring suit is validly conditioned on an award of abritrators or appraisers respecting differences as to certain factual matters, the courts will not take jurisdiction of his suit until he has complied with the condition precedent* or is legally excused therefrom. If the arbitration fails through the fault of the suing party, it is a bar to his action. * * *" (Emphasis ours.)

And at pages 574-5 of the same work, the following language is found:

"As a general rule, if the terms of the contract expressly or by necessary implication require an award on a preliminary question absolutely and in any event before a suit may be brought, it is incumbent on the suitor, under penalty of not stating a cause of action, affirmatively to plead and prove his performance of the condition, or, by appropriate specific allegations, affirmatively to excuse his nonperformance. On the other hand, if arbitration is not of the essence of the contract, but is to proceed, according to the terms of the agreement, only on occurrence of a contingency, such as an actual disagreement on the arbitrable question, or the re-

quest of one of the parties, the failure of the arbitration is matter of defense to be pleaded and proved in order to defeat a recovery. Although there is authority to the contrary, where arbitration is a condition precedent, in order to bar a suit, it is ordinarily sufficient to set up the agreement and nonperformance thereof through fault of the party bringing suit, since the agreement, if valid, is concerned only with ascertainment of preliminary facts, and not with liability, and the award will be evidence of such facts but will not itself support an action."

See also 29A Am. Jur. 699, Insurance Sec. 1611:

"In accordance with general principles applicable to all contracts, it is the rule that a provision in an insurance policy that *all* disputes arising under the policy shall be submitted to arbitrators, or a provision similar in substance and effect, is not binding. On the other hand, the view prevailing in nearly all jurisdictions is that a stipulation not ousting the jurisdiction of the courts, but leaving the general question of liability for a loss to be judicially determined, and simply providing a reasonable method of estimating and ascertaining the amount of the loss, is valid." (Emphasis ours.)

Many courts in construing insurance contracts have held in accordance with the principles above set forth.

In *Hamilton v. Liverpool & London & Globe Ins. Co.*, 136 U.S. 242, 34 L.ed. 419, 10 S.Ct. 945, the Supreme Court of the United States said:

"The conditions of the policy in suit clearly and unequivocally manifest the intention and

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