1964

Jay O. Barnhart and Vida N. Barnhart v. Civil Service Employees Insurance Co. : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JUDGMENT RENDERED IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

POINT II

ARBITRATION PROVISIONS IN CONTRACTS ARE SEVERABLE FROM THE CONTRACT AND ARE VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE.

ARGUMENT POINT I

There was substantial evidence available to the court to justify the conclusion that it came to. The key to the entire problem of fact could probably be answered in stating that even if the respondent violated the statutory standard of care, which the respondent denies, this violation would not prohibit the recovery if it was not a proximate cause contributing to the injury. The key to the question was whether the respondent's conduct in any way proximately caused the collision. The court rightfully held that it did not.

Even accepting Welcker's, the uninsured motorist's, version of the collision, no fault or blame, causation wise, can be placed upon Mrs. Barnhart. (R. 59; TR. 11, 12, 13). The truck never came into his lane of traffic, never crossed in front of him, was not observed by Mrs. Barnhart, and mysteriously vanished after the collision. (R.

59; TR. 16). In fact Welcker's testimony was inconsistent. For example, the following:

"Q. If this were west, going this way, (Indicating), would you say the Olsen truck was in this vicinity, somewhere, where I am pointing?

"A. Yes, sir, I think so.

"Q. And was it signaling to make a turn into the opposite lane of traffic?

"A. Well, I am not sure. When I seen him last, he was parked on the side of the road near the field." R. 59; TR. 16).

Welcker further testified that he was not sure if he had to leave his lane of traffic to go around the truck, but if so, "just a little bit." (R. 59; TR. 13). He also stated that the impact involved the right front of his vehicle and the left rear of the plaintiff's vehicle. Mr. Welcker even placed and labeled the vehicles on the diagram. (Exhibit 2, R. 59; TR. 16, 19, 20 & 21). It would be difficult to correlate the diagram with his testimony. The testimony and diagram certainly do not excuse the negligence of Welcker and do justify the court's finding of fact based upon substantial evidence. The rule is specifically set out in *Prim v. Prim*, 45 Cal. 2d 690, 299 P. 2d 231:

"This is the sole question presented for determination: Is there substantial evidence in the record to support the findings of fact set forth above?

"Yes. The rule is established that when a finding of fact is attacked on the ground that there is not any substantial evidence to sustain it, the power of the appellate court begins and ends with a determination as to whether there is any substantial evidence, con-

tradicted or uncontradicted, which will support the finding of fact."

(Jensen v. Union Paving Company, 97 2d Cal. App. 637, 218 P. 2d 134; Johnson v. Nas, 50 Wash. 2d 87, 309 P. 380; Laurence v. Bamberger Railroad Co., 3 Utah 2d 247, 282 P.2d 335; O'Gara v. Findlay, 6 Utah 2d 102, 306 P. 2d 1073.)

POINT II

ARBITRATION PROVISIONS IN CONTRACTS ARE SEVERABLE FROM THE CONTRACT AND ARE VOID AND UNENFORCEABLE.

The main point of argument raised by the appellant concerns the arbitration provision in the contract. Appellant begins its dissertation by quoting articles from insurance company publications, to-wit: Plummer's article in the Insurance Law Journal and Fieting's article in Best's Insurance News, Fire and Casualty edition. We do not believe that articles in particular trade journals are authoritative citations in court. These articles, however, give the respondent an opportunity to reply in kind, in an essay form, concerning arbitration. The articles cited are from a strictly biased standpoint and overlook the fact that plaintiffs seldom have sufficient continuity of interest to publish law journals, to retain permanent counsel or to write essays on particular legal theorems.

The clause cited in the insurance contract required arbitration "in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association, and judgment upon the award rendered by the arbitrators may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof." We respectfully submit to

the Court that such a provision is a genuine attempt to relieve the courts of jurisdiction over causes that are inherently judicial in nature. We respectfully state to the court that such a provision is an unconstitutional deprivation to the parties of a right to have their matter heard in court and of a right to have a jury trial if they so desire.

The unfair aspect of this particular provision to the unwary insurance purchaser is that the American Arbitration Association is not an impartial, unbiased tribunal for the hearing of insurance matters.

The American Arbitration Association, insofar as uninsured motorists are concerned, is the minion of the insurance companies combined. The filing fees, although less than nominal, are insufficient to support its operation. It is an organization that exists on the gratuities of the insurance company.

According to the literature of the American Arbitration Association, in 1950, at the instance of certain insurance companies, they agreed to arbitrate claims for the insurance companies if provision for such arbitration was provided in the insurance companies' policies. The American Arbitration Association literature states "It was their (the insurance companies) desire that the fee for such arbitrations be set at a nominal amount of no greater than \$50.00, rather than have it in accordance with the schedule of fees prescribed in our commercial rules.*** The association agreed to write a special set of rules incorporating the \$50.00 fee. Because the insurance companies in turn agreed that they would subscribe to a special budget to cover the difference between what the association would

receive at the nominal \$50.00 rate and the rate of fees under the commercial arbitration rules.***"

The motto of the American Association is "speed, economy, justice." It is rather interesting that Mr. Fieting in *Best's Insurance News*, Fire and Casualty edition, October, 1961, states the purpose of arbitration is "Provide a speedy, just and economical means for determining the amount of the insurer's payment liability." The American Arbitration Association claims to have used those terms since 1926. The point of the dissertation being that Fieting's article is nothing more than a propaganda dissertation for and on behalf of the American Arbitration Association.

Under the title "Selecting the Arbitrator" the literature of the American Arbitration Association states:

"The next step involved is the selection of the arbitrator. A special accident claims panel of arbitrators has been created consisting of attorneys who have been nominated by bar associations throughout the country or by other attorneys who are not commercial arbitrators of this association's national panel. To give the insurance companies and the policy holders the most acceptable arbitrators, one rule is that no attorney working for an insurance company or specializing in negligence cases may serve in accident claims cases. Arbitrators are appointed administratively by the Association without the submission of lists to the parties.***"

One might ask what the other rules are for the selection of arbitrators which are not specified in the literature furnished to the insured or his counsel. Undoubtedly, the insurance companies are better acquainted with

the rules for the selection of an arbitrator than those who receive the literature.

Under Section 11 of its accident claims rules, the litigants are informed as follows:

"The arbitrators will be appointed from a special accident claims panel. Members of the panel serve without fee in accident claims arbitrations. In prolonged or in special cases, the parties may agree to the payment of a fee. Any arrangement for the compensation of a panel arbitrator shall be made only through the administrator."

Claimant's attorneys who have had experience before the Arbitration Association contend that in many instances the arbitrators are unqualified because of lack of experience or are seeking only recognition from those who can properly reward such talents. The proceeding is tried in a most informal basis without a record, and the litigants must necessarily depend upon the note taking of the arbitrator, who does not have available to him a court reporter or a record from which he could clarify a confusing aspect of the case upon deliberation. If a record is to be kept, it has to be kept by one of the parties at the party's expense, which, of course, is of no value to the arbitrator. Furthermore, the rules provide no means for appeal. The decision of the arbitrator is final.

There are many shortcomings in arbitration and many reasons why a person might prefer to litigate his cases in court where he had the right of due process. Due process presumes a fair hearing from beginning to end with the right of appeal in order to review possible error of the trial judge, such as that the appellant claims here but which it

would deny the respondent by arbitration. The arbitrator acts informally and, according to the publications of the American Arbitration Society, "The object of examination of witnesses is to get the fact; arbitrators will usually permit witnesses to go somewhat afield as long as relevant facts are being produced.***" "He (the arbitrator) is the one who must be convinced, not a jury of laymen who might perhaps be more taken in by flights of flowery appeal. He (the arbitrator) will recognize that the common law rules of evidence are not strictly applied. This does not mean he will calmly admit all sorts of irrelevant matters and hearsay evidence. He (the lawyer) knows that the arbitrator will recognize weak evidence for what it is and will recognize the deficiencies of second and third hand testimony."

We respectfully state that this is a country that has long nurtured and cherished the jury system and has espoused a confidence in it that has prohibited a change in it for a hundred and seventy-five years. It is one of the very foundations of our Constitutional system and is provided for in the Constitution of the United States and of all of the states in the Union.

The reason insurance companies desire an arbitration panel is obvious. It merely means that one of the litigants, the insurance company, wants to try its case before a select court. It merely means hearsay testimony, secondary and insubstantial evidence, innuendo and implication are the hallmarks of trial by arbitration, which are rightfully prohibited in a court of law. It merely means that the insurance companies, by this devious route, have selected a battle ground wherein they control all of the command points

and have full and sometimes exclusive knowledge of the terrain. It is a battle field upon which they have fought numerous battles and upon which their captains are daily associated with the personnel of the supposedly neutral referee. The arbitrator, in the course of his experience, may sit on a number of cases in which counsel for the insurance company appears, but he is not likely to see counsel for the litigant or the litigant himself on any more than one occasion.

The AAA claims that their process is speedy. Some claimants contend that they could have had a much more rapid hearing in a court of law. One case that counsel for the respondent is familiar with had a request for arbitration duly filed on February 13, 1963, and without delay caused by either litigant, the case was ultimately tried on January 30th, 1964, before the arbitration tribunal. If this is a standard, one might wonder if that is "speedy."

The AAA and the appellant contend that arbitration is just. The respondent has pointed out many unjust features above, of which the following are the most flagrant examples:

1. There is no provision for requiring testimony from out of state witnesses.
2. In many states, such as Utah, there is no provision for the attendance of witnesses within the forum.
3. The selection of the arbitrator is made by the Association irrespective of experience or motives and the insurance companies are much more likely to be associated and acquainted with him than the claimant.
4. The arbitrator is immune from mistake. There is

no method by which his finding can be appealed nor his errors corrected.

5. The arbitration forum selected is a forum of the insurance companies and denies the claimant an equal right of appointment.

6. The rules of evidence by which the rights of the claimant are protected are abandoned if the arbitrator so desires and, therefore, there is no hope of due process as the claimant might expect in a court of law.

7. The claimant is forced to litigate at a place selected by the Arbitration Association regardless of convenience to himself and witnesses, which, according to the rules of the American Arbitration Association, may be within or without the state wherein the occurrence happened.

8. Witnesses are not required to testify under oath and, therefore, the moral sanction that attends a proceeding at law are denied the litigant.

9. The evidence may be introduced that is completely hearsay and evidence may be introduced by affidavit, thereby denying the litigant of a right of cross examination.

The AAA contends that their proceeding is economical. The filing fee for the claimant is \$50.00. The cost of each day the proceeding exceeds the first day is \$25.00. In the event that the proceeding runs after 6:00 P. M. on any day, the charge is \$3.00 per hour. All chargeable to the claimant if he institutes the proceeding. Rule 4, Section 11, indicates that in certain cases "in prolonged or in special cases, the parties may agree to the payment of a fee" to the arbitrator. Under what circumstances these might be, the claimant does not know.

Another interesting aspect to the "economical" claim of the Arbitration Society is that specified under Section 16, Taking of a Stenographic Record:

"The tribunal clerk shall make the necessary arrangements for the taking of stenographic record of the testimony whenever such record is requested by one or more parties. The requesting party or parties shall pay the cost of such record as provided in Rule 8, Section 38."

As pointed out above, the claimant is required, if he wants a record, to pay the cost of the reporter plus the cost of transcribing, if it is to be of any benefit to the arbitrator. This, as all lawyers will attest, is no small charge. The claimant must arrange for and pay for the attendance of witness and in states where such attendance is not provided for by statute, as in this state, the obtaining of witnesses becomes an extreme hardship upon the claimant and, needless to say, an expense, for there are few witnesses who desire to attend for the witness fees provided by law.

We have taken considerable time to controvert the suggestions in the journals quoted as authorities. We respectfully state that our opinion, based upon experience, would be as persuasive as the opinion of an insurance company attorney writing in an insurance law journal concerning a matter in which he has a prejudicial interest. We respectfully state that these citations are not authority and should not be given any more weight or treated with any more dignity than the reflections of counsel for the respondent set forth above.

Getting to the real meat of the question raised, it should be sufficient to state that the Utah Supreme Court on three

occasions and the United States District Court in and for the District of Utah on one occasion, (*Shumaker v. Utex Exploration Co.*, 157 F. Supp. 68), has stated the provisions substantially similar to that contained in this insurance policy are void for good and sound reasons. Those cases, with the exception of the *Shumaker* case, were cited by the appellant, but the appellant casually says that they are distinguishable. This same argument was made to the learned trial judge who, after listening to the arguments and taking the case under advisement, was unconvinced. For example, the distinction made between the *Fox Film Corporation vs. Ogden Theatre* case, 82 Utah 279, 17 Pac. 2d 294, and this case seems to be that arbitration in this case does not deal with procedure, but with substance of the agreement and that arbitration in the *Fox Film Corporation* case dealt with procedure and not substance. By what method the appellant is able to come to this conclusion is not known to the respondent. One would think that the statements of the court in that case would be good evidence of the intent of that court and the field they intended to cover by their decision.

Appellant cites *Johnson vs. Brinkerhoff*, 89 Utah 580, 57 Pac. 2d 1132. He says this case is not in point for here the parties had agreed to arbitrate "all" disputes. Here counsel suggests that all the contracting parties intended to litigate by arbitration was (a) liability, and (b) damages. (Brief page 23 and 24.) One might ask, "What else is there left to litigate in any law suit but liability and damages?" Suppose that Mrs. Barnhart in this case had purchased only a policy for uninsured motorist protection. What then would be left for the court if arbitration was

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